
Community & Economic Development Committee

City of Appleton

Meeting Agenda - Final

100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

Council Chambers, 6th Floor6:30 PMWednesday, April 10, 2024

1. Call meeting to order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Roll call of membership

4. Approval of minutes from previous meeting

24-0380 CEDC Minutes from 3-20-24

CEDC Minutes 3-20-24.pdfAttachments:

5. Public Hearing/Appearances

7. Information Items

24-0381 Update on Mayor's Taskforce on Housing Development Policy - Final 

Housing Development Policy Guide

HousingDevelopmentPolicyGuide_MemotoCEDC+CPC 4-10-24.pdf

HousingDevelopmentPolicyGuide_2024_0315-Final Guide.pdf

Attachments:

24-0382 Upcoming Request for Proposals (RFP) for Neighborhood Leadership 

Academy Program

ARPA NeighborhoodLeadershipAcademy_MemotoCEDC 4-10-24.pdfAttachments:

8. Adjournment

Notice is hereby given that a quorum of the Common Council may be present during this 

meeting, although no Council action will be taken.

Any questions about items on this meeting are to be directed to Kara Homan, Director, 

Community and Economic Development Department at 920-832-6468.

Reasonable Accommodations for Persons with Disabilities will be made upon Request 

and if Feasible.

Page 1 City of Appleton Printed on 4/5/2024

https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24081
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=6a402979-d1aa-4edd-b434-754eb7c2802e.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24082
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=bddecf6a-af67-4b5a-98b6-1af60f8ffb01.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=3ec111f0-e9a6-4fd1-9f5a-eb328943af65.pdf
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?m=l&id=/matter.aspx?key=24083
https://cityofappleton.legistar.com/gateway.aspx?M=F&ID=cb7077ee-53d9-4875-906a-adf1a100353a.pdf


100 North Appleton Street 

Appleton, WI  54911-4799

www.appleton.org

City of Appleton

Meeting Minutes - Final

Community & Economic Development 

Committee

6:00 PM Council Chambers, 6th FloorWednesday, March 20, 2024

Special Meeting

Call meeting to order1.

Chair Fenton called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.

Pledge of Allegiance2.

Roll call of membership3.

Fenton, Del Toro, Jones, Thyssen and WolffPresent: 5 - 

Others present:

Alderperson Vered Meltzer, District #2

Alderperson Kristin Alfheim, District #11

Alderperson Sheri Hartzheim, District #13

Alderperson Christopher Croatt, District #14

James Fenlon, U.S. Venture

Mercedes Bereza, U.S. Venture

Jennifer Stephany, Appleton Downtown Inc.

Brady Meyer, Fox 11 News

Mike Moon, Fox 11 News

Breanna Ramczyk, Xavier High School student

Carsyn Stempa, Xavier High School student

Approval of minutes from previous meeting4.

24-0308 CEDC Minutes from 3-13-24

CEDC Minutes 3-13-24.pdfAttachments:

Del Toro moved, seconded by Wolff, that the Minutes be approved. Roll Call. 

Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Fenton, Del Toro, Jones, Thyssen and Wolff5 - 

Public Hearing/Appearances5.

Page 1City of Appleton



March 20, 2024Community & Economic 

Development Committee

Meeting Minutes - Final

Action Items6.

24-0309 The Community and Economic Development Committee may go into 

closed session according to State Statute §19.85(1)(e) for the purposes 

of deliberating or negotiating the investing of public funds regarding the 

U.S. Venture development project and then reconvene into open session

The Committee did not go into closed session.

24-0269 Request to approve the Development Incentive Agreement with USV 

222, LLC for improvements and redevelopment of the property located at 

222 W. College Avenue (Tax Id #31-2-0257-00) in Tax Increment 

Financing District No. 11

USVMemo_MemoCEDC_030152024_Final.pdf

2024.03.15_FinalDraft_Clean_USV 222 Bldg - Dev Agrm - Final.pdf

Attachments:

Jones moved, seconded by Del Toro, that the Development Agreement with 

USV 222, LLC be recommended for approval. Roll Call. Motion carried by the 

following vote:

Aye: Fenton, Del Toro, Jones, Thyssen and Wolff5 - 

Information Items7.

Adjournment8.

Jones moved, seconded by Del Toro, that the meeting be adjourned at 6:29 

p.m. Roll Call. Motion carried by the following vote:

Aye: Fenton, Del Toro, Jones, Thyssen and Wolff5 - 

Page 2City of Appleton



 

 

 

 

 

  TO:  Community and Economic Development Committee 

    City Plan Commission 

  

 FROM: Kara Homan, AICP, Director of Community & Economic Development  

 

 DATE:  March 29, 2024 

RE:  Informational Update – Final Housing Development Policy Guide 

      

 

I am pleased to present to you the final Housing Development Policy Guide, which is the final product of the 

Mayor’s Taskforce on Housing Development Policy.  After nearly 6 months of collaboration, research, and 

feedback from various stakeholders including developers, realtors, homebuilders, housing & community-based 

non-profits, local officials, and internal staff involved in the development review process, we have arrived at a 

document that reflects the culmination of this work. 

 

An executive summary can be found at the beginning of the guide, which provides a high-level overview of the 

guide’s findings.  The recommendations of the guide are organized around 5 themes that emerged as part of the 

process, as follows: 

 

1. Vision: Create a community vision that acknowledges the need for housing-centric development and 

investment and form policy that supports it. 

2. Process: Encourage a positive development approval experience for housing-centric projects. 

3. Activation: Encourage activation of existing housing-centric policy. 

4. Proactiveness: Encourage a proactive approach to catalyzing housing-centric development and investment. 

5. Communication: Proactively engage with the community to better communicate changes to housing-

centric policies and processes. 

 

The Housing Development Policy Guide represents a significant step forward in our efforts to address the 

housing challenges facing our community and create vibrant, livable neighborhoods for all residents across the 

income spectrum.  We anticipate the recommendations of the guide will be implemented over time – with 

initial efforts focused around the following work efforts: Zoning Code Revisions; Plat Review Process 

Improvements; Comprehensive Plan Update / Sub Area Planning; City Website Update; and implementation of 

the Tyler Munis Community Development Module (as part of the iSeries sunset). 

 

We look forward to discussing this guide in more detail at the committee meeting after you have had time to 

review it. 

 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 



































































































First Name Last Name Title Dept. Email Phone # Suggested Engagement Strategy 

Amanda Abshire Deputy City Atty Attys Office amanda.abshire@appleton.org 920-832-6423 Survey
Chris Behrens City Atty Attys Office chris.behrens@appleton.org 920-832-6423 Survey
Conner Deeg DPW Asst Traffic Engineer DPW connor.deeg@appleton.org 920-832-5942 Survey
Dan Meissner Commercial Inspector CED daniel.meissner@appleton.org 920-832-6418 Interview Group 3
Dan Faust Erosion Control Inspector CED dan.faust@appleton.org 920-832-5879 Survey
Dani Block DPW Director DPW blockdl@appleton.org 920-832-6482 Interview Group 1
David Kress Deputy CED Director CED david.kress@appleton.org 920-832-6428 Interview Group 1
Derek Henson Fire Inspector FD derek.henson@appleton.org 920-832-3934 Survey
Don Harp Principal Planner CED don.harp@appleton.org 920-832-6466 Survey
Eric Lom DPW Traffic Engineer DPW eric.lom@appleton.org 920-832-3958 Survey
Jake Woodford, Mayor Mayor/Chair of Plan Commission Mayor's Office jake.woodford@appleton.org 920-832-6400 Survey
Jessica Titel Principal Planner CED jessica.titel@appleton.org 920-832-6476 Interview Group 2
Kara Homan CED Director CED kara.homan@appleton.org 920-832-6408 Interview Group 1
Kurt Craanen Inspection Supervisor CED kurt.craanen@appleton.org 920-832-6413 Survey
Lindsey Smith Principal Planner CED lindsey.smith@appleton.org 920-832-3943 Interview Group 2
Mark Layah Asst. City Engineer DPW mark.lahay@appleton.org 920-832-6486 Survey
Matt Rehbein Econ Dev Specialist CED matthew.rehbein@appleton.org 920-832-6463 Survey

Stakeholder Engagement Plan

Matt Rehbein Econ Dev Specialist CED matthew.rehbein@appleton.org 920-832-6463 Survey
Pete Neuberger City Engineer/Deputy DPW Director DPW peter.neuberger@appleton.org 920-832-6485 Interview Group 1
Rich Hamlet Residential Inspetor CED hamletrj@appleton.org 920-832-6416 Interview Group 3
Sue Olsen Engineer DPW sue.olson@appleton.org 920-832-6473 Survey
Tom Flick Parks PRFM tom.flick@appleton.org 920-832-3915 Survey

Stakeholder Engagement Plan





First Name Last Name Organization Email Phone # Sector Suggested Engagement Strategy Provided By 
Abby Maslanka Martenson & Eisele Engineer Focus Group 1 Heidi Zich HBA Fox Cities
Amy McGowan** Habitat for Humanity FC Non Profit Survey Task Force Member
Amy Oelhafen Pfefferle Companies Real Estate Brokerage Focus Group 3 - Comm Kara Homan City of Appleton
Andrew Dane Private Developer/PC Member Developer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Andy Andersen Appletree Homes Home Builder Interview Kara Homan City of Appleton
Andy Dumke Alliance Development Developer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Anne Higgins Appleton Redevelopment Authority Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Becky Bartoszek* Fox Cities Chamber Survey Task Force Member
Becky Heldt Advocap Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Ben Bruns Boldt Construction General Contractor Survey Lindsey Smith City of Appleton
Ben Hamblin McMahon Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Brandon Robaidek Robert E. Lee & Associates, Inc. Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Brent Dahlstrom Merge Urban Development Developer Focus Group 3 - Comm Kara Homan City of Appleton
Brian Calmes Calmes & Rohm Construction Home Builder Focus Group 2 Heidi Zich HBA Fox Cities
Brian Julius Nicolet National Bank Lender Focus Group 1 Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Carl Romenesko Romenesko Developments Developer Interview Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Carrie Kuiper Outagamie Co. Housing Authority Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Cheryl Ellis Prospera Credit Union Lender Focus Group 2 Heidi Zich HBA Fox Cities
Chris Badtke CD Smith General Contractor Survey Lindsey Smith City of Appleton
Colin Cassady Alexander Company Developer Survey Dave Kress City of Appleton
Corey Krueger Star Service Realty Real Estate Agent Survey Dave Kress City of Appleton
Dave Voss, Jr. Miron Construction General Contractor Survey Lindsey Smith City of Appleton
David Baehr American Realtors Real Estate Agent Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Debra Dillenberg Appleton Housing Authority Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Denise Fenton* Appleton City Alderperson Survey Task Force Member
E-Ben Grisby Celebrate Diversity Fox Cities Non Profit Survey
Eric Broten** Fox Cities Chamber Survey Task Force Member
Ernesto Gonzalez Casa Hispania Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Ethan Fett Blue Sky Contractors General Contractor Focus Group 3 - Comm Kara Homan City of Appleton
Fanni Xie Northeast Wisconsin Chinese Association (NEWCA) Non Profit Survey
Garritt Bader GB Real Estate Investments Developer Survey Dave Kress City of Appleton
Gene Schleusner Consolidated Construction Co. General Contractor Survey Lindsey Smith City of Appleton
Heidi Zich* HBA Fox Cities Trade Association Survey Task Force Member
Howie Fuerst Habitat for Humanity Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton

Stakeholder Engagement Plan

Howie Fuerst Habitat for Humanity Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Jake Czarnik-Neimeyer, Rev. Zion Lutheran Church Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Jason Haen Van's Construction Home Builder Focus Group 1 Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Jason Tadych Tadych Investment Partners Developer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Jeff Heiting Jeff Heiting Builder Home Builder Focus Group 1 Kara Homan City of Appleton
Jeff Rustick Schuler & Associates Inc. Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Jeff Schultz Martenson & Eisele Engineer Focus Group 2 Kara Homan City of Appleton
Jennifer Sunstrom* NE WI Realtors Association Trade Association Survey Task Force Member
Jeremy Olmstead Van's Realty & Const. Home Builder Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Jill Hendricks Vision Realty & Development Developer Focus Group 2 Heidi Zich HBA Fox Cities
Jim Lundberg Point of Beginning Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Jim Sehloff Davel Engineering Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Joel Ehrfurth Mach IV Engineering & Surveying Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
John Davel Davel Engineering Engineer Focus Group 1 Kara Homan City of Appleton
John Ross JROSS and Associates Real Estate Brokerage Focus Group 3 - Comm Kara Homan City of Appleton
John Weyenberg* Habitat for Humanity FC Non Profit Survey Task Force Member
Jon Huss Star Service Realty Home Builder Survey Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Jon Searles* WHEDA NE Rep Economic Development Survey Task Force Member
Josh Brusewitz Greenfire General Contractor Survey Lindsey Smith City of Appleton
Juan Corpus New North, Inc. Non Profit Survey
Katie Olson ESTHER Fox Valley Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Kip Golden CR Structures General Contractor Focus Group 3 - Comm Kara Homan City of Appleton
Kou Vang Hmong American Partnership Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Kristen Gondek People of Progression Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Kurt Coenen North Edgewood Estates Development Developer Survey Dave Kress City of Appleton
Lisa Cruz Multicultural Coalition Inc Non Profit Interview 
Lisa Schmidt Keller Williams/Schmidt Bros. Custom Homes Real Estate Agent Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Lisa Strandberg Pillars, Inc. Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Long Vue New Hmong Professionals Non Profit Survey
Maiyoua Thao Thao Enterprises Community Organization Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Marcus McGuire Marcus McGuire Homes Home Builder Focus Group 2 Heidi Zich HBA Fox Cities
Marisssa Downs Mosaic Property Ventures Developer Interview Kara Homan City of Appleton
Mary Winkel Coldwell Banker TREG Real Estate Agent Survey Heidi Zich HBA Fox Cities
Matt Cremer Tegethoff Development Developer Focus Group 3 - Comm Kara Homan City of Appleton
Matt Mrochinski Excel Engineering Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Matthew Cole Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Mike Kohlbeck McMahon Associates Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Olumuyiwa Adeboye, Dr. African Heritage, Inc. Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Pat Kaster River City Realtors Developer Focus Group 1 Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Pat Leigl Salvation Army - housing provider Non Profit Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton

Stakeholder Engagement Plan



Appendix A-2: External Stakeholder List

Phil Romenesko Romenesko Development Home Builder/Developer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Ralph Grebe North Central Construction General Contractor Survey Lindsey Smith City of Appleton
Rich Christensen Associated Bank Lender Focus Group 2 Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Rich Van Sistine Coldwell Banker/Van Sistine Homes, LLC Builder/Real Estate Agent Focus Group 2 Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Sabrina Robins, ABACOR, LLC Consultant Survey Task Force Member
Sam Statz, Dr.* Hoffman Constsuction General Contractor Focus Group 3 - Comm Kara Homan City of Appleton
Scott Grabau Mark Winter Homes Home Builder Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Scott Sheppard We Energies Energy/Utility Survey Dave Kress City of Appleton
Shannon Meyer Cypress Homes Home Builder Focus Group 1 Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Sridevi Buddi IndUS of the Fox Valley Non Profit Survey
Steve Wille Hoffman Construction General Contractor Survey Lindsey Smith City of Appleton
Tami McLaughlin World Relief Fox Valley Non Profit Survey
Tim Ceman Noble Assets Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Tim Rinn Consolidated Construction Company General Contractor Survey Dave Kress City of Appleton
Tim Wittmann Davel Engineer Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Todd Brokl Appleton Redevelopment Authority Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Tom Boldt BOLDT General Contractor Focus Group 3 - Comm Kara Homan City of Appleton
Tom Klister* FORE Development Inc. Developer Focus Group 3 - Comm Task Force Member City of Appleton
Tom Kopps Linked Living Homes Survey Kara Homan City of Appleton
Tom McHugh Score Realty Group Real Estate Agent Focus Group 1 Jennifer Sunstrom NE WI Realtors Assoc
Tom Rooney* Mark Winter Homes Home Builder Survey Task Force Member

Stakeholder Engagement PlanStakeholder Engagement Plan





1.

Internal Stakeholder Survey 
The City of Appleton Community and Economic Development Department (CED) has 
partnered with Green Bicycle Co. (GBC) to develop a Housing Development Policy Guide. The 
guide, when completed, will focus on making recommendations to improve policy, process 
and communication to promote the development of higher density, more affordable housing 
options in the City of Appleton. In turn, the Department of Community and Economic 
Development seeks to encourage residential development that wisely uses the City 
infrastructure, capital, and service delivery resources and accelerates development of all 
housing products and types across the income spectrum in the community.

As a City of Appleton staff member involved in the review, approval and inspection of 
housing-centric projects your input as an Internal Stakeholder in the development of the 
Housing Development Policy Guide is requested. Your feedback will support GBC and the 
City of Appleton in identifying internal operation deficiencies and aid in forming 
recommendations for impactful municipal policy and procedural adjustments to ease 
barriers to development and favorably position the City of Appleton for on-going and future 
housing growth and investment.

The City of Appleton has expressed a willingness to receive feedback to facilitate the 
improvement of policy, process and communication by key stakeholders to improve the 
opportunities for near-term and long-term development of housing-centric projects in the 
City.

Deadline to complete this survey is Friday, January 19, 2024. 

First Name, Last Name



2.

Mark only one oval.

Other:

Community and Economic Development Development

Department of Public Works

Fire Department

Police Department

Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department

City Attorney’s Office

Mayor’s Office

3.

Mark only one oval.

Less than 1 year

1-5 years

6-10 years

Over 10 years

4.

Mark only one oval.

Less than 1 year

1-5 years

6-10 years

Over 10 years

Department or Office

Years with the City

Years of relevant experience



5.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

6.

Policy

Statutes, ordinances, zoning code, etc.

7.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Staff meetings

Internal newsletters

Public meetings

Word of mouth

City of Appleton website

Newspaper

Television

Social media

Have you worked for other municipalities?

If yes, which municipalities?

How are policy changes communicated to you?

Check all that apply.



8.

Check all that apply.

Zoning Code. Amended CBD zoning in 2018 to allow ground floor residential (except
along College Ave.) and standalone residential development.

Zoning Code. Updated the C-1 zoning district in 2020 to accommodate mixed-use infill
and redevelopment.

Quality of Life. Completed the Downtown Streetscape Design Guide in 2021 to inform
decisions as street reconstruction projects occur.

Zoning Code. Amended the C-1 Neighborhood mixed use district (increased lot
coverage, reduced parking requirements, no maximum MF density, reduced setbacks,
encourage parking to the rear of the buildings)

Zoning Code. Accessory Dwelling Units are now allowed in residential districts.

Zoning Code. Allow for zero lot line duplex in R-2 and R-3 zoning districts.

Zoning Code. Increased density in the R-3 district.

Zoning Code. Subdivision Code Chapter 17 - Change timeline for parkland dedication fee
to be paid at time of building permit instead of prior to subdivision plat being signed.

Zoning Code. There are no parking requirements in the CBD district, the C-1 district
reduces the required parking by 50% and the zoning code allows for a 20% administrative
parking reduction/adjustment in all districts.

Plan. Completed College Avenue North Plan to reimagine this neighborhood and identify
redevelopment opportunities. Market study completed to identify gaps in the housing
market.

Other

9.

Are you aware of the recent changes in policy to encourage housing development?

Check all that apply. 

How have the recent changes in policies impacted your work?



10.

Mark only one oval.

Daily

Weekly

Monthly

Never

11.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Maybe

12.

Mark only one oval.

Other:

Quarterly

Annually

How often do you find yourself educating colleagues or the community about City
of Appleton housing policies (existing and new)?

Are all of your departments policies accessible for colleagues and community to
view?

How often does your department review current policies?



13.

Processes

Standard operating procedures, informal procedures, etc.

Do you have additional comments on City of Appleton housing policies?



14.

Mark only one oval per row.

Which of the following entitlement processes do you interact with most frequently?

Daily Weekly Monthly Never

Annexation
Process (No
electors reside
in territory)

Annexation
Process

Certified
Survey Map
(CSM)
Application

Final Plan
Check List

Lot Line
Adjustment
Application

Preliminary
and Final Plat
Submittal Form

Preliminary
Play Check List

Public Hearing
and Informal
Public Hearing
Notice Matrix

Rezoning
Application

Site Plan
Review

Annexation
Process (No
electors reside
in territory)

Annexation
Process

Certified
Survey Map
(CSM)
Application

Final Plan
Check List

Lot Line
Adjustment
Application

Preliminary
and Final Plat
Submittal Form

Preliminary
Play Check List

Public Hearing
and Informal
Public Hearing
Notice Matrix

Rezoning
Application

Site Plan
Review

Special Use
Permit



15.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

16.

17.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Special Use
Permit
Application

Street Vacation
Procedures

Rezoning
Timeline

Comprehensive
Plan
Amendment

Permit
Application

Street Vacation
Procedures

Rezoning
Timeline

Comprehensive
Plan
Amendment

Does your department have a specific point-person for the department’s role in the
entitlement process for external stakeholders?

If yes, who?

First Name, Last Name, Title

Do you know how to access the CED standard operating procedures?



18.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

19.

20.

21.

Would you be able to convey accurately the appropriate entitlement process to a
colleague or client, if inquired upon?

What could make communication of standard operating procedures easier?

Are there other procedures that should be formalized or addressed? If so, what are
they?

Are there other (non-CED) Standard Operating Procedures your department utilizes
with respect to the housing development process? 



22.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Maybe

Collaborations

Interdepartmental communication and coordination.

23.

Mark only one oval.

Daily

Weekly

Monthly

Never

24.

Mark only one oval.

Formal

Informal

Does your department have a document to provide to the community or online that
outlines the entitlement process? 

How often do you interact with another department on a housing related project?

Would you characterize your interaction with other departments as formal or
informal? 



25.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Somewhat

Neutral

Not applicable

26.

Mark only one oval.

Strongly disagree

Disagree

Neutral

Agree

Strongly agree

Friction

Areas of redundancy, lag time, vagueness or confusion of responsibility, etc.

How comfortable are you contacting another department to discuss a housing
related project?

Is the existing internal meeting structure for the entitlement process effective and
beneficial? 



27.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Redundancy

Lag time

Vagueness

Confusion of responsibility

28.

Recommendations for Improvement

Improve efficiencies in processes, increase transparency in communication, etc.

29.

Which of the following have you experienced?

If so, please provide examples.

The examples you provided will be used to make improvements.

Do you have any recommendations to improve City of Appleton housing
development policies, processes or procedures?

These can include examples from the City of Appleton or other communities. 



30.

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

Any other comments.

 Forms

https://www.google.com/forms/about/?utm_source=product&utm_medium=forms_logo&utm_campaign=forms
https://www.google.com/forms/about/?utm_source=product&utm_medium=forms_logo&utm_campaign=forms
https://www.google.com/forms/about/?utm_source=product&utm_medium=forms_logo&utm_campaign=forms




1.

2.

External Stakeholder Survey
The City of Appleton Community and Economic Development Department has partnered with Green 
Bicycle Co. (GBC) to develop a Housing Development Policy Guide. The guide, when completed, 
will focus on making recommendations to improve policy, process and communication to promote the 
development of higher density, more affordable housing options in the City of Appleton. In turn, the 
Community and Economic Development Department seeks to encourage residential development that 
wisely uses the City infrastructure, capital, and service delivery resources and accelerates 
development of all housing products and types across the income spectrum in the community. 

As a professional in the City of Appleton and Fox Cities region housing industry and community 
leader, your input as an External Stakeholder in the development of the Housing Development Policy 
Guide is requested. Your feedback will support GBC and the City of Appleton in identifying market 
gaps and future housing development potential, as well as aid in forming recommendations for 
impactful municipal policy and procedural adjustments to favorably position the City of Appleton for 
on-going and future housing growth and investment.

The City of Appleton has expressed a willingness to receive feedback to facilitate the improvement of 
policy, process and communication by key stakeholders in the community to improve the 
opportunities for near-term and long-term development of housing-centric projects in the City. 

Deadline to complete this survey is Friday, January 19, 2024. 

First name, last name

Company/Organization Name



3.

Check all that apply.

Developer

Home Builder

General Contractor

Real Estate Brokerage

Engineer

Architect

Lender

Non-Profit

Trade Association

Economic Development

Community Leader

Other

4.

Mark only one oval.

Less than 1 year

1-5 years

6-10 years

Over 10 years

5.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

What sector of the housing industry are you involved in?

Check all that apply.

Years of experience in the housing industry.

Have you completed, or are in the process of completing, a housing-centric project in the City
of Appleton?



6.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Subdivision land development

Single-family home(s)

Townhomes

Apartments

Condominiums

7.

Mark only one oval.

Less than 1 year ago

1-5 years ago

6-10 years ago

Over 10 years ago

Housing Market Insight & Development Potential

Based on your professional expertise and understanding of the City of Appleton housing market and 
community, please respond to these market-based questions accordingly. 

If yes, please select all that apply.

When was your most recent housing project in the City of Appleton completed?



8.

Mark only one oval per row.

9.

Check all that apply.

Detached Single-family homes

Middle Housing (townhomes, duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes)

Apartments

What housing type is currently in highest demand in the City of Appleton?

1 -
highest
demand

2
3 -

lowest
demand

Detached
Single-
family
homes

Middle
Housing
(townhomes,
duplexes,
triplexes,
quadplexes)

Apartments

Detached
Single-
family
homes

Middle
Housing
(townhomes,
duplexes,
triplexes,
quadplexes)

Apartments

What housing type is currently under-represented, given potential market demand in the City
of Appleton?

Select all that apply. 



10.

Mark only one oval.

Other:

House

Condominium

11.

Other:

Check all that apply.

House - Ownership

House - Rental

Middle Housing - Ownership

Middle Housing - Rental

Apartment - Rental

12.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Maybe

What form of ownership is currently in highest demand in the City of Appleton?

What form of occupancy (ownership or rental) is currently under-represented, given
potential market demand in the City of Appleton? 

Select all that apply.

The College North Neighborhood Plan (link) was completed in 2022. In that plan a housing
market study anticipates between 2,850-3,250 housing units (includes all housing types)
were needed to meet the needs of the community (City of Appleton) between 2020 and
2030. Do you agree with this estimate? 

https://www.appleton.org/home/showpublisheddocument/24814/637957278958630000


13.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Detached single-family homes

Middle Housing (townhomes, duplexes, triplexes, quadplexes)

Apartments

14.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Policy

Approval Process

Project Costs

Financing

Land Availability

Environmental Conditions

Community Push-back (NIMBY)

Code Enforcement

In order to achieve the anticipated future housing unit demands in the community by 2030,
what type of housing should be prioritized in the City of Appleton? 

Select all that apply.

What barriers to development of housing-centric projects do you believe exist in the City of
Appleton?

Select all that apply.



15.

Mark only one oval per row.

The College North Neighborhood Plan (link) included the following owner-occupied
housing price point categories, how would you prioritize these in the City of Appleton? 

1-
highest
priority

2 3 4
5-lower
priority

Affordable Low:
<$125,000

Affordable
Moderate:
$125,000-$200,000

Moderate market:
$200,000-$250,000

Market:
$250,000-$400,000

High Market: Over
$400,000

Affordable Low:
<$125,000

Affordable
Moderate:
$125,000-$200,000

Moderate market:
$200,000-$250,000

Market:
$250,000-$400,000

High Market: Over
$400,000

https://www.appleton.org/home/showpublisheddocument/24814/637957278958630000


16.

Mark only one oval per row.

17.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

18.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

The College North Neighborhood Plan (link) included the following renter-occupied
housing categories by monthly rent, how would you prioritize these in the City of Appleton?

1-
highest
priority

2 3
4-lower
priority

Low: Less
than $650

Affordable:
$650-$1,000

Market:
$1,000-$1,500

High Market:
$1,500+

Low: Less
than $650

Affordable:
$650-$1,000

Market:
$1,000-$1,500

High Market:
$1,500+

Are you aware that the City of Appleton allows new single family home subdivisions with
fifty (50) feet wide lots (a historically typical width)?

Are you aware that the City of Appleton does not have a maximum residential density in the
CBD, C-1, and C-2 zoning districts?

https://www.appleton.org/home/showpublisheddocument/24814/637957278958630000


19.

20.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Maybe

21.

Policy

Statutes, ordinances, zoning code, etc.

Please share any input or concerns regarding this matter.

Do you have interest in pursuing a housing project in the City of Appleton?

If yes or maybe, please provide more details.

Optional.



22.

Mark only one oval.

Yes, keeping up with state and national changes

Yes, but could do more

Neutral

No, but are trying

No

23.

24.

Mark only one oval.

Very Accessible

Somewhat Accessible

Not Accessible

Not Applicable

Has the City of Appleton, from a policy perspective, positioned itself to encourage housing-
centric development?

Provide feedback.

Optional.

How would you rate the accessibility (i.e. clarity and ability to comprehend) existing City of
Appleton housing policies (e.g. statutes, ordinances, zoning code, etc.)?



25.

Check all that apply.

Zoning Code. Amended CBD zoning in 2018 to allow ground floor residential (except along
College Ave.) and standalone residential development.

Zoning Code. Updated the C-1 zoning district in 2020 to accommodate mixed-use infill and
redevelopment.

Quality of Life. Completed the Downtown Streetscape Design Guide in 2021 to inform
decisions as street reconstruction projects occur.

Zoning Code. Amended the C-1 Neighborhood mixed use district (increased lot coverage,
reduced parking requirements, no maximum MF density, reduced setbacks, encourage parking to the
rear of the buildings)

Zoning Code. Accessory Dwelling Units are now allowed in residential districts.

Zoning Code. Allow for zero lot line duplex in R-2 and R-3 zoning districts.

Zoning Code. Increased density in the R-3 district.

Zoning Code. Subdivision Code Chapter 17 –Change timeline for parkland dedication fee to be
paid at time of building permit instead of prior to subdivision plat being signed.

Zoning Code. There are no parking requirements in the CBD district, the C-1 district reduces
the required parking by 50% and the zoning code allows for a 20% administrative parking
reduction/adjustment in all districts.

Plan. Completed College Avenue North Plan to reimagine this neighborhood and identify
redevelopment opportunities. Market study completed to identify gaps in the housing market.

Other

Are you aware of the recent changes in housing policy to encourage housing-centric
development?

Check all that apply.



26.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Newspaper

Television

Social Media

Trade Newsletters

City of Appleton website

Public meetings

Funding

Incentives

27.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Tax Increment Financing (TIF)

American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA)

Community Development Block Grant (CDGB)

Wisconsin Economic Development Corporation (WEDC) Programs

Wisconsin Housing & Economic Development Authority (WHEDA)

PACE

What is your preferred method to be and to stay informed on the City of Appleton housing
policy updates (e.g. housing policy updates, zoning ordinance changes, available funding or
tax incentives, plan updates, etc.

Check all that apply.

Have you utilized any of the following to complete your project(s) in Appleton?

Check all that apply. 



28.

Mark only one oval.

Very

Somewhat

Not helpful

Not applicable

29.

Processes

Project Submittal, Review and Approval (standard operating procedures, informal procedures) - this 
section applies to individuals and organizations who have gone through or are going through the 
municipal project approval process and is most likely to include developers and home builders. 

30.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Somewhat

Not Applicable

Was the City helpful to guide and advise in the use of incentives to assist in making your
project feasible?

Are there incentive programs for housing development you’ve utilized in other Wisconsin
communities that the City of Appleton should consider?

Please list or describe.

Does the City of Appleton provide adequate resources (i.e. materials and communication) to
navigate the various approval processes for housing-centric projects?



31.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Somewhat

Not Applicable

32.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Somewhat

Not Applicable

33.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Somewhat

Not Applicable

Are the necessary housing-centric project application forms readily accessible?

Are the housing-centric project approval timelines accurately communicated during the
project submittal, review and approval process or when inquired upon?

Are the housing-centric project expectations clearly communicated by City of Appleton
staff during the approval process?



34.

Mark only one oval.

Yes

No

Somewhat

Not Applicable

35.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Community and Economic Development Department

Department of Public Works

Fire Department

Police Department

Parks, Recreation, and Facilities Management Department

City Attorney’s Office

Mayor’s Office

36.

Mark only one oval.

Very responsive

Somewhat responsive

Nuetral

Not Responsive

Does the City designate a reliable and responsive point of contact for communication during
the review and approval process of housing-centric projects?

If yes, what department did that person work in?

Select all that apply.

How would you rate the City of Appleton’s responsiveness to general and/or complex
inquiries related to housing-centric projects?



37.

Recommendations for Improvement

Improve policy, create efficiencies in processes, and increase transparency in communication and 
expectations.

38.

Other:

Check all that apply.

Vagueness or confusion regarding expectations

Redundancy

Lag time in responsiveness

39.

Please provide any additional comments or concerns regarding the submittal, review and
approval processes for housing-centric projects in the City of Appleton.

If you have completed, or are currently completing, a housing-centric project in the City of
Appleton, please indicate if you’ve experienced any of the below during the project review
and approval process.

Do you have any recommendations to improve the City of Appleton housing-centric policy,
processes, and/or communication?

These can include examples from other communities.



40.

This content is neither created nor endorsed by Google.

Any other comments.

 Forms

https://www.google.com/forms/about/?utm_source=product&utm_medium=forms_logo&utm_campaign=forms
https://www.google.com/forms/about/?utm_source=product&utm_medium=forms_logo&utm_campaign=forms
https://www.google.com/forms/about/?utm_source=product&utm_medium=forms_logo&utm_campaign=forms
































 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TO:  Community and Economic Development Committee  

FROM: Olivia Galyon, Community Development Specialist   

DATE:  April 10, 2024  

RE: ARPA Neighborhood Leadership Academy Request for Proposals (RFP) 

 

The American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA), passed in March 2021, provided the City of Appleton 

funding for projects related to recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. Appleton’s Common 

Council set aside funding for internal and external programmatic areas of focus, one of which is 

Social Infrastructure, Belonging, and Neighborhood Resiliency. City of Appleton recognizes that 

neighborhood organizations make neighborhoods stronger through their investments of time and 

effort. City staff identified the reduction in neighborhood activity and connectedness due to the 

necessary social distancing efforts as a negative impact of the pandemic on neighborhoods. 
 

The City hopes to remedy this by providing the Neighborhood Leadership Academy an 

opportunity for neighborhood leaders to learn how to increase resident participation levels, 

enhance their programming, and provide a continuous space for engagement in their groups. 

Major focus areas of Neighborhood Leadership Academy programming include project 

management and program development, life cycle of a neighborhood organization, asset-based 

community development, and increasing community engagement. 
 

This information item is a notice that staff plans to release a Request For Proposals from 

potential consultants that have the skills and project expertise to carry out training sessions and 

engagement.  The consultant will also create and provide deliverable resources related to the 

topics to extend the lifetime of this program and provide access to this critical information. 
 

ARPA funding must be obligated by December 31, 2024 and spent by December 31, 2026. 

Below are the estimated dates of action for the Request for Proposals.  

 

DATE   EVENT 

April 12, 2024  Issue Request for Proposals 

May 10, 2024   RFPs due  

May 2024   Internal review of RFPs, interviews 

June 2024  Provide recommendation of consultant to CEDC/Council 

July 2024   Project kickoff 

June 2026  Anticipated project completion 
 

If you have any questions, please contact me at 832-6469 or olivia.galyon@appleton.org. Thank 

you! 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

 

“…meeting community needs…enhancing quality of life.” 

mailto:olivia.galyon@appleton.org

	0000_Agenda
	0001_1_CEDC Minutes 3-20-24
	0002_1_HousingDevelopmentPolicyGuide_MemotoCEDC+CPC 4-10-24
	0002_2_HousingDevelopmentPolicyGuide_2024_0315-Final Guide
	0003_1_ARPA NeighborhoodLeadershipAcademy_MemotoCEDC 4-10-24

